
CITY OF HANOVER 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

September 27, 2021 
OFFICIAL MINUTES 

 
Call to Order 
Stan Kolasa called the September 27, 2021, Planning Commission Meeting to order at 7:00 pm in person.  
Members present were Stan Kolasa, Jim Schendel, Dean Kuitunen, Mike Christenson, and Gretchen 
Barrett.  Also present City Planner Cindy Nash, Council Liaison Jim Zajicek, and Administrative Assistant 
Amy Biren.  No guests were present. 

Approval of the Agenda 
MOTION by Schendel to approve the agenda, seconded by Kuitunen. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Approval of Minutes from the June 28, 2021, Regular Meeting 
MOTION by Schendel to approve the June 28, 2021, minutes, seconded by Kuitunen. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Citizen’s Forum 
 None 
 
Public Hearing 
 None 
 
Unfinished Business 
 None 
 
New Business 
 Discussion on requirements for pools 
 
Nash explained that over the last two years, swimming pools have gained in popularity because of people 
staying home during the pandemic.  Questions arose as the ordinance does not specifically address above 
ground swimming pools.  Nash went over the proposed clarifications with the Board.  Christenson asked if 
the 200 square feet requirement would meet most above ground pool specifications and how that number 
was determined.  He also asked what the most common size or shape is being permitted.  Nash said that 
she selected the size requirement based on the same size portable shed that would not require a permit. 
Nash quickly calculated the square footage of a 16-foot round above ground swimming pool and arrived at 
201 square feet.  Kolasa said that he had also seen the air-filled pools in other cities. 
 
Board members discussed safety as being part of the homeowner’s responsibility as an above ground pool 
that stood alone would not require fencing. 
 
Nash said that if the Board had no further discussion, she would prepare a new version based on the 
discussion and advertise a public hearing for October. 
 
Schendel and Kuitunen requested that something be added related to taking down an above ground 
swimming pool when it is no longer functionable, no longer used, or is in disrepair.  Christenson added 
there should be something about maintaining the pool so that algae doesn’t grow.  Nash acknowledged 
these requests and would add them to the proposed amendments. 
 



 Discussion on recreational equipment and storage 
 
Nash began the discussion with the fact that the City has received multiple complaints over the last year 
related to storage of recreational equipment on residential lots.  It was decided by staff that the ordinance 
needed to be clarified and easier to understand. 
 
Nash went through the proposed changes which included definitions for recreational equipment, location, 
and time frame of storage. 
 
Barrett asked for a definition of temporary storage.  Nash explained that it was not clearly defined and that 
it was a judgment call.  Barrett provided an example of the HOA rules which stated that recreational 
equipment could only be stored during the months of April through October.  Christenson said he liked 
leaving “temporary” in the ordinance as it gave the impression that the storage would not be allowed 
forever.  Kolasa said that if “temporary” was taken out, there wouldn’t be an issue.  Board members decided 
that temporary should remain. 
 
Nash asked if the storage should be only allowed on a paved or dustless surface or if grass would be allowed.  
Biren stated that storage on the grass may involve additional MS4 issues if there would be leakage.  
Kuitunen said that there are people that store items on grass and take care of it, but there are others that do 
not and create problems.  Barrett asked what other cities do and if Nash could provide examples.  
Christenson asked for a definition of “well kept”. 
 
Barrett asked for a definition of recreational vehicles. 
 
Biren asked if parking on the street could be prohibited as there are multiple situations each year where this 
occurs and it is a safety issue for children, pedestrians, and drivers. 
 
Nash commented the possibility of different sized lots have different storage guidelines. 
 
Christenson asked if existing neighborhoods wanted to be stricter, could they create an HOA.  Nash said 
that after a neighborhood is already developed and there was not an HOA in place already, it would be 
difficult to put an HOA in place because 100 percent of the neighborhood would have to agree to it.  
Additionally, enforcement is also difficult in HOAs. 
 
Barrett asked for confirmation that recreational equipment could not block sidewalks or protrude in the 
right of way.  Nash said yes, and stated that the Board needs to decide if they want people to park in the 
driveway or drag their items to the rear yard. 
 
Nash asked the Board their preference on storage on dustless surfaces versus grass.  The Board stated they 
would like to keep it on paved or dustless surfaces. 
 
 Discussion on shipping containers as storage 

Nash directed the Board to Paragraph A of the Exterior Storage ordinance explaining that personal property 
needed to be stored within a building or fully screened.  Currently, the ordinance does not provide for the 
use of container storage such as shipping containers, PODS and the like.  She said that container storage is 
becoming more common and is showing up in both residential and commercial areas. 

Nash provided a sample copy of a temporary storage container ordinance from the City of Mahtomedi.  She 
went through the ordinance which allowed container storage for a specific time period; dictated the size of 



the container; and location of the container.  This only pertained to temporary storage and did not address 
shipping containers. 

Christenson thinks that people are purchasing them and there is not a name on the side of the container. 

Barrett requested that something be added to the ordinance that states that container storage is not a 
permanent storage option and will not be allowed. 

Kuitunen asked if this would be allowed in areas other than residential.  Nash replied yes. 

Zajicek sees this as a possible bypass of any building regulations where residents would not come to the 
City to get an accessory building permit.  He believes there needs to be strict regulations or control will be 
lost.  Zajicek continued that 60 days is a good time period and sees a need particularly when remodeling or 
staging a house.  Temporary is preferred over permanent.  Nash provided a case to highlight the possibility 
of evasion of a building permit where the owner lined up shipping containers in a row and stacked them.  It 
looked exactly like a building. 

Kuitunen asked if a business needs a storage container, would they need to get a conditional use permit or 
something similar.  Zajicek proposed that it be handled on a case-by-case basis.  He gave the example of a 
business using it to store supplies so they wouldn’t run into supply issues.  Nash responded that unless that 
unless it is spelled out in the ordinance, it would be difficult for staff to determine it on a case-by-case basis. 

Nash stated she is hearing that the Planning Commission does not want to include shipping containers as 
an option.  Planning Commission members confirmed they did not want shipping containers. 

Nash pointed out that there is some verbiage within the Accessory Building Ordinance that would also need 
to be amended with the inclusion of storage containers. 

Nash said that she will bring back a draft ordinance for review at the October meeting.  Further discussion 
will be held and then a public hearing would take place at a future meeting. 

 
Reports and Announcements 
 Schendel asked if the Downtown parking issue is being looked at and was told it has been a topic 
of discussion at the Council Meetings.  He also asked why an orange snow fence was put up along the north 
property line of his property that abuts the Rivers Edge Development.  Nash said she would ask Nick 
Preisler, the City Engineer. 
 Kuitunen asked about the water issue at the corner of 8th Street and River Road as it pools on the 
road after any amount of rainfall.  Biren said that the engineer is aware of the issue and it will be corrected 
before the final lift is put on 8th Street.  When it is fixed, the water should run across 8th Street and travel 
down River Road in the storm sewer system. 
 Barrett asked about the status of the BridgeWater 2 building permit.  Biren said that it is waiting 
for payment and to be picked up.  Nash said that there may be a title issue that is holding up the closing of 
the property sale. 
 Zajicek asked about campers being used a dwelling and if Nash was going to amend that part of 
the recreational equipment ordinance.  Nash said she had not looked at it, but would do so for the next draft 
of the ordinance.   
 Zajicek informed the Board that the City is in the planning stages for the CSAH 19 road project 
and wondered if the Planning Commission had to approve it or what was the process.  Nash replied that it 
is uncertain that the process has actually started and that a project like that rarely comes to a planning 
commission.  Instead, there is public input and open houses. 
 Nash pointed out that the December meeting is scheduled for Monday, December 27, 2021.  Since 
applicants need to get materials submitted, is the Board interested in changing the date to earlier in the 



month.  Board agreed that prior to the Christmas holiday would be preferred and selected Wednesday, 
December 22, 2021, for the meeting date. 
 Nash said that there is a developer that is negotiating for the Anderson property off of Beebe Lake 
Road and may be close to a purchase agreement. 
 Nash said that the DNR still has not looked at Hanover’s Shoreland Ordinance and that once back 
from the DNR, she is planning on advertising a public hearing since it has been so long since the initial one 
was held. 
 Biren reminded Schendel and Christenson that their terms were expiring at the end of 2021 and 
provided applications. 
 Biren updated the Board on the 400+ building permits that have been issued and that this year has 
been the largest amount of new construction permits issued in Hanover’s history. 
 Kolasa wanted to know if it is time that the parking ordinance is reviewed as there is some confusion 
about requirements. Kolasa asked Nash to look into the ordinance and how parking is calculated in the 
downtown and what parking spaces can be included in that equation. The restaurants in town that created 
patios during the pandemic were granted extensions for submitting site plans.  The owners are now working 
on those site plans and parking is an issue for all of the restaurants.  Zajicek explained that River Inn has 
been attending Council meetings to get feedback for determining parking.  Zajicek also asked what was the 
purpose to the Downtown parking and said he had proposed to sell the lot.  Kolasa also asked why the 
parking lot was established and its purpose.  Nash responded that she would not encourage the selling of 
the parking lot because right now, anyone can use the lot for parking.  She added that future use and 
businesses in the Downtown need to be considered as well.  Nash provided examples of a more traditional 
downtown where there is no parking, but that a city has some leniency to their parking ordinance.   

Kolasa also commented if the patio rules would or would not be changed. He said that pre-Covid, 
patios were enclosed and entered via a door from the business, not from outside the patio. 
 
 
Adjournment 
MOTION by Schendel to adjourn, seconded by Christenson.   
Motion carried unanimously.  
Meeting adjourned at 8:37 pm. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
      
Amy L. Biren 
Administrative Assistant 
 
 


